MEDICAL COLLEGES of the UNITED STATES and CANADA.

(The Publishers are, to a great extent, indebted to the Illinois State Board of Health Report and Conspectus for the College Information herein given.)

Key to Numbers Used in this Work.

ALABAMA.

- 89* Graffenberg Institute, Ala. Chartered by the Legislature of Alabama for a period of ten years, in 1852. Some six or seven sessions were held, and the charter not being renewed, it expired by limitation in 1862.*
- Medical College of Alabama, Mobile, Ala. George A. Ketchum, M. D., Dean, 7 N. Conception st. Organized in 1859. Closed during the war and reopened in 1868. There were no graduates during the years 1862-1868, inclusive. The faculty embraces nine professors, six lecturers and two demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 101* Southern University, Medical Department, Greensboro, Ala. Organized in 1872. Extinct; last session closed in 1880.*
- 101A Birmingham Medical College, Birmingham, Ala. W. H. Johnston, M. D., Dean, 2029 1st avenue. Organized 1894. First class graduated in 1895. The faculty embraces ten professors, four special lecturers and three demonstrators.
 ARKANSAS.
- 102 Medical Department Arkansas Industrial University, Little Rock, Ark. J. A. Dibrell, jr., M. D., President of Faculty; E. R. Dibrell, M. D., Secretary of the Faculty. Organized 1879. First class graduated in 1880. Classes have graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces sixteen professors and lecturers and a demonstrator. (See adv.)
- 1021/4* Bethel Medical Department, Southwestern University, Little Rock, Ark. Extinct.*

CALIFORNIA.

- Cooper Medical College, San Francisco, Cal. Henry Gibbons, Jr., M. D., Dean, 920 Geary street. Organized in 1858 as the Medical Department of the University of the Pacific. Ceased to exist in 1864, but was revived in 1870 under the same name. In 1872 it became the Medical Department of University College of San Francisco, and was given the specific designation of the Medical College of the Pacific. In 1882 the institution received its present name. The first class was graduated in 1860. No classes were graduated in the years 1865-69, inclusive. A class was graduated in 1870 and in each subsequent year. Faculty embraces twelve chairs, seven adjuncts, eight assistants, and demonstrators each of anatomy and pathology.
- 104 University of California, Medical Department (Toland Medical College), San Francisco, Cal. Robert A. McLean, M. D., Dean, 305 Kearny street. Organized in 1863 as the Toland Medical College. Became connected with the University of California in 1872. The

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates. have not been verified.

faculty embraces seventeen professors, twelve assistants, two curators and a dispensary staff of nineteen.

- 104% California Medical Society and College of Physicians, San Francisco, Cal. Incorporated October 21st, 1876. Extinct 1887.
- 105 California Medical College, San Francisco, Cal. D. Maclean, M. D., Denn, 6 Eddy street. Organized in 1879. The first class was graduated in 1880. The faculty embraces twenty-four professors and a demonstrator. Has four years' graded course.
- 106 Hahnemann Hospital College of San Francisco (Homoeopathic), San Francisco, Cal. C. B. Currier, M. D., Dean, 921 Geary street. Organized 1884. Faculty embraces seventeen professors, two lecturers and one demonstrator of anatomy.
- 106½ College of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, Cal. J. P. Widney, A. M., M. D., LL. D., Dean, Widney Blk., First street; W. L. Wade, M. D., Secretary, 421 S. Hill street. Organized November, 1885. First class graduated in 1888. Four years graded course. Faculty embraces twenty professors, one lecturer and a demonstrator of anatomy. (See adv.)
 COLORADO.
- 107 University of Denver, Medical Department (Denver Medical College), Denver Col. E. R. Axtell, M. D., Secretary, room 18, Barth Block. Organized in 1831. First class graduated in 1882. The faculty embraces fifteen professors, ten lecturers and two demonstrators. (See adv.)
- The Colorado School of Medicine, Medical Department of the University of Colorado, Boulder Colo. H. W. McLauthlin, M. D., Barth Block, Denver, Colo., Secretary of the Faculty. Organized in 1883. First class graduated in 1885. Four years' graded course. The first year is at Boulder, the second, third and fourth years at Denver. The faculty embraces seventeen professors, eleven lecturers and three assistants. (See adv.)
- 108½ Gross Medical College, Medical Department of the Rocky Mountain University, Denver, Colo. Robert Levy, M. D., Secretary, 300-302 California bildg., cor. 17th and California sts. Organized in 1887. First class graduated in 1888. The faculty embraces nineteen professors, three demonstrators, eight lecturers and twelve instructors. (See adv.)
- 108A Denver Homeopathic Medical College, Denver, Colo. E. F. Storke, M. D., Registrar, 208 Mack blk., cor. California and 10th sts. Incorporated May 21, 1894. First class graduated in 1895. The faculty embraces nipeteen professors, five lecturers and one demoastrator.

CONNECTICUT.

Yale University, Medical Department, New Haven, Conn. H. E. Smith, M. D., Dean of the Faculty, 150 York st. Chartered in 1810 as the Medical Institution of Yale College. Instruction began 1813. In 1870 a new charter changed the title to the present reading. The faculty embraces twelve professors, seven lecturers and ten assistants to chairs. (See adv.)

National Medical College, Medical Department of the Columbian University, Washington, D. C. D. K. Shute, M. D., Dean, 1120 N. Y. ave.; E. A. de Schweinitz, Secretary, 1325 H. st. n. Organized in 1821 as the Medical Department of Columbian College. It was also authorized to use the title of National Medical College. In 1873 Columbian College became Columbian University. The first

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have

class was graduated in 1822. Operations were suspended from 1834 to 1838, and from 1861 to 1863. With these exceptions, classes have been graduated each year since its founding. The faculty embraces twenty-one professors, lecturers on special subjects, three demonstrators, five assistant demonstrators and nine clinical professors. (See adv.)

University of Georgetown, Medical Department, Washington, C. G. L. Magruder, A. M., M. D., Dean, 815 Vermont av. n. w. 111 Organized in 1850. First class graduated in 1851; classes have been graduated each subsequent year. Faculty embraces nineteen professors, seven clinical professors and twenty-two assistant profes-

112

sors, lecturers and demonstrators. (See adv.)

Howard University, Medical Department, Washington, D. C. Charles B. Purvis, M. D., Secretary, 1113 Thirteenth st. n. w. Organized in 1867. The first class graduated in 1871, and classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces fitteen professors, four assistants and one demonstrator. (See adv.)

National University, Medical Department, Washington, D. C. 113 Howard W. Barker, M. D., Secretary, 1116 H st. n. w. Organized in 1884. First class was graduated in 1885. The faculty consists of eighteen professors, three demonstrators and two assistant demonstrators.

The National Homoeopathic Medical College, Washington, D. C. Organized 1893. The first class was graduated in 1894. Merged 113A into the Washington Homoeopathic Medical College in 1896.

The Washington Homoeopathic Medical College, 625 Massachusetts av. n. w., Washington, D. C. G. Howard Kennard, M. D., Registrar. The faculty consists of sixteen professors, four lectur-113B ers and three demonstrators.

FLORIDA. University of Florida, Medical Department. Organized in 1883. Removed to Jacksonville from Tallahassee in 1885. Graduated medical classes yearly. Extinct in 1886.

GEORGIA.

Medical College of Georgia (Medical Department, University of 115 Georgia), Augusta, Ga. Edward Geddings, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1829 as a medical academy, and has been in constant operation ever since, except during the period of the war. In 1873 it became the Medical Department of the State University of Georgia.

Southern Botanico-Medical College, Forsyth-Macon, Ga. Organized in 1839 at Forsyth. Removed to Macon in 1846. First class 116* graduated in 1841, and classes were graduated each year until 1854. when the name was changed to the Reform Medical College of

Georgia.*

Thompsonian College, Barbourville, Ga. Organized about 1850. 117. Extinct.

Savannah Medical College, Savannah, Ga. Organized in 1853.

Suspended during the civil war, 1861-66. Extinct since 1880.*

Reform Medical College of Georgia, Macon, Ga. Organized in 119* 1854 as the successor of the Southern Botanico-Medical College. Classes were graduated every year until 1861; suspended during the civil war; resumed in 1867. Classes graduated in 1868 and each subsequent year until 1874, when the school assumed the name of the College of American Medicine and Surgery.*

Atlanta Medical College, Atlanta, Ga. W. S. Kendrick, M. D., Proctor of the College, 93 Capitol Square. Organized in 1854. Closed during the rebellion, 1861-65. Reorganized in 1865. Classes were graduated from 1855 to 1861, inclusive, and each subsequent 120

year since reorganization. The faculty embraces nine professors, three assistants, five lecturers and two demonstrators. (See adv.)

Oglethorpe Medical College, Savannah, Ga. Organized in 1855 and continued its sessions until 1861. Resumed in 1866; continued lectures until 1879, when it suspended.

122* College of American Medicine and Surgery, Atlanta, Ga. Organized in 1874 as successor to the Reform Medical College at Macon. Removed to Atlanta in 1881. The first class under this name was graduated in 1874. There was no graduating class in 1877, '78, '79, '80 or '81. In 1884 the institution was merged into

the Georgia College of Eclectic Medicine and Surgery.

Georgia College of Eclectic Medicine and Surgery, Atlanta, Ga. 123 G. W. Delbridge, Dean, 951/2 Peachtree st. Organized in 1877 as the Georgia Eclectic Medical College; assumed its present name in 1886. The first class was graduated in March, 1878, and classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twelve professors and one demonstrator of anatomy. (See adv.) 124

Southern Medical College, Atlanta, Ga. Wm. Perrin Nicolson, M. D., Dean, P. O. box No. 234. Organized 1879. Faculty embraces ten professors, fourteen lecturers and demonstrators. (See adv.)

125 Clark University, Medical Department, Atlanta, Ga. Chartered

in 1886. Organization never completed. 125½° Woman's Medical College of Georgia, Atlanta, Ga. Organized in 1889. Out of existence.

ILLINOIS.

126 Rush Medical College (The Medical Department of the Lake Forest University), Chicago, Ill. James H. Etheridge, A. M., M. D., Secretary, 1634 Michigan av. Chartered in 1837. Organized in 1842. First class graduated in 1843, and classes have been graduated each year subsequently. Faculty embraces seventy-six professors, adjunct professors, lecturers, instructors and demonstrators.

Medical Department, Illinois College, Jacksonville, Ill. Or-

ganized in 1843. Suspended lectures in 1848.

University of St. Charles, Medical Department, St. Charles, Ill. Organized in 1847. Annual courses of lectures were delivered until 1848, when the institution was transferred to Rock Island. 129*

College of Physicians and Surgeons of the Upper Mississippi,

Rock Island, Ill. Organized in 1848. One course of lectures was delivered in the winter of 1848-49. Removed to Davenport, Ia., where a second course was delivered in the winter of 1849-50. Then removed to Keokuk, Ia., and assumed the name of College of Physicians and Surgeons.*

- Northwestern University Medical School (Chicago Medical College), Chicago, Ill. Frank Billings, M. D., Secretary, 235 State street. Organized in 1859 as the Medical Department of Lind University. It continued under that name until 1864, when, severing this connection, it assumed the name of the Chicago Medical College. The school entered into its present university relations in 1869. The faculty embraces thirty-four professors, one lecturer, seventeen demonstrators, twenty-four instructors and seven clinical assistants. (See adv.)
- 131 Hahnemann Medical College and Hospital, Chicago, Ill. J. P. Cobb, M. D., Registrar, 2811 Cottage Grove avenue. Organized in 1851. The first class was graduated in 1860. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces eighteen professors, three associate and ten adjunct professors and nine lecturers. (See adv.)
- Bennett College of Eclectic Medicine and Surgery, Chicago, Ill.
 Anson L. Clark, M. D., Dean, 78 N. Ada street. Organized in 1868.
 The first class was graduated in 1869. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty consists of twenty-four professors, two demonstrators and six lecturers. (See adv.)
- 1321/2* Chicago Northwestern College, Chicago, Ill. Incorporated, 1862, Re-chartered in 1864, and in 1870 became the Edinburg University. Fraudulent. Extinct.*
- 133* Edinburg University of Chicago and St. Louis, Chicago, Ill. Incorporated September 23, 1870, under the general incorporation act of the State. Fraudulent. Extinct.*
- Northwestern University Woman's Medical School (Woman's Medical College of Chicago), Chicago, Ill. Marie J. Mergler, M. D., Secretary, Suite 1203, No. 34 Washington street. Organized in 1870. The first class was graduated in 1871. No class was graduated in 1872. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-four professors, sixteen lecturers and instructors, eight assistants and two demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 135 Chicago Homocopathic Medical College, Chicago, Ill. J. R. Kippax, M. D., Secretary, 3154 Indiana avenue. Organized in 1876. The first class was graduated in 1877. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-one professors, twelve lecturers and five demonstrators. (See adv.)
- College of Physicians and Surgeons of Chicago, Chicago, Ill. Bayard Holmes, M. D., Secretary, Venetian bldg. Organized in 1882. The first class was graduated in 1883. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty consists of thirty-seven professors and thirty-six demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 137* Chaddock School of Medicine, Quincy. Ill. Organized in 1882 as the Quincy College of Medicine (Medical Department of Chaddock College). Reorganized in 1888 under above title. Extinct in 1890.*
- 137½ Chicago Physio-Medical College, 517 Milwaukee avenue, Chicago, Ill. W. F. Pechuman, A. M., M. D., LL. D., Secretary, 519 Milwaukee avenue. Organized in 1891. The faculty embraces twenty-five professors, six lecturers, three instructors and two demonstrators. (See adv.)

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

- National Medical College, Chicago, Ill. T. C. Duncan, M. D., 137A Ph. D., LL. D., President, 100 State street. Organized in 1891. The first class was graduated in 1892. The faculty consists of thirty professors, four lecturers and eight associate professors. (See adv.)
- German Homeopathic Medical College, Chicago, Ill. Organized and incorporated in 1891. Extinct.
- The Hering Medical College, Chicago, III. Charles W. Day, M. D., Registrar, 3033 Indiana avenue. Organized and incorporated The faculty embraces twelve professors, one adjunct professor of anatomy, two demonstrators of anatomy and eight lecturers.
- 137D German Medical College, Chicago, Ill. Incorporated 1891.
- 137E Harvey Medical College, Chicago, Ill. Frances Dickinson, M. D. Secretary, 70 State street. Incorporated 1891; re-incorporated 1894. The faculty consists of forty-five professors. (See adv.)
- International Medical Mission Institute, 2221 Wabash avenue, Chicago, Hl. S. D. Ebersole, M. D., Secretary. Organized 1895. The faculty embraces thirty-five professors, ten lecturers and two demonstrators.
- Harvard Evening Medical College, Chicago, Ill. Adolph Hoffman, Secretary, 385 Washington Boulevard, Organized in 1893. First class was graduated in 1896. The faculty embraces twentyfive professors and five demonstrators.
- H Illinois Medical College, 61 Austin avenue, Chicago, Ill. Wm. F. Waugh, A. M., M. D., Dean, 103 State street. Organized in 1894. First class graduated in 1895. The faculty embraces twenty professors.
- 137 I American Health University, Chicago, Illinois. Diplomas not recognized by the Illinois State Board of Health.
- 137J Dunham Medical College, 370 S. Wood st., Chicago. Ill. Howard Crutcher, M. D., Registrar, 103 State street. Organized in 1895. First class was graduated in 1896. The faculty consists of eighteen professors, ten lecturers and four demonstrators.
- American Medical Missionary College, Chicago, Ill. J. H. Kellogg, M. D., Dean. Organized 1895. The faculty embraces eleven professors, three assistant professors, two lecturers, four instructors and two demonstrators.
- 137L* Illinois Health University, Chicago, Illinois. Diplom not recognized by the Illinois State Board of Health. Chicago Correspondence University, Chicago, Ill. Diplomas not recog-

nized by Illinois State Board of Health.

National University of Illinois, Chicago, Ill. Incorporated July 25, 1889. Diplomas not recognized by Illinois State Board of Health.

Chicago College of Science, Chicago and Chicago Lawn, 111. Incorporated 1888. Extinct 1889. Diplomas not recognized by Illinois State Board of Health.

INDIANA.

- 138* University of Indiana, New Albany, Ind. Organized in 1833. Extinct.
- Indiana Medical College, La Porte, Ind. Organized in 1844. Lec-tures were continued at this college until 1848, when the institution 139* was removed to St. Charles, Ill., thence to Rock Island, Ill., in 1849. and finally to Keokuk, Ia., where it remains as the College of Physiclans and Surgeons of Keokuk.*

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be oblained, all the names
physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, he
not been verified.

- 140* Medical College of Evansville, Evansville, Ind. Organized in 1849. Classes were graduated during the years 1850 to 1854, inclusive, numbering 44 alumni. Lectures were suspended from 1854 to 1871. The college was reorganized in 1871, and classes were graduated from 1873 to 1884, inclusive. The institution suspended in 1886.*
- 1401/2* Indiana Central Medical College (Medical Department Asbury University, Greencastle, Ind.), Indianapolis, Ind. Organized in 1850. Extinct since 1854.*
- 141 Physio-Medical College of Indiana, Indianapolis, Ind. C. T Bedford, M. D., Secretary, 290 Massachusetts av. Organized in 1873. The first class was graduated in 1874. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces seventeen professors, three lecturers and seven demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 142. Medical College of Fort Wayne, Fort Wayne, Ind. Organized in 1876. Classes were graduated in each year from 1877 to 1883 inclusive. Extinct 1883.
- The Medical College of Indiana, Indianapolis, Ind. Joseph W. Marsee, M. D., Dean, 106½ E. New York street. This institution succeeds the Indiana Medical College, organized in 1869, and consolidated with the College of Physicians and Surgeons in 1868, and has adopted the alumni of both these institutions. It was formerly the Medical Department of Butler University, but severed its connection with that institution in 1883. The faculty is composed of twenty professors, one clinical lecturer, five lecturers, four demonstrators and five assistant demonstrators.
- 144 Central College of Physicians and Surgeons, Indianapolis, Ind. S. E. Earp, M. S., M. D., Secretary and Dean; corner Pennsylvania and South. Organized in 1879. The first class was graduated in 1880. The faculty embraces twenty-two professors, three adjunct professors, one lecturer, seven assistants, three demonstrators and one assistant demonstrator.
- 145 Fort Wayne College of Medicine, Fort Wayne, Ind. C. B. Stemen, A. M., M. D., LL. D., Dean, 25 Broadway. Organized in 1879. The first class was graduated in 1880. The faculty embraces twenty professors and three lecturers.
- 146 Indiana Eclectic Medical College, Indianapolis, Ind. Organized in 1880. Beach Medical College was merged into this institution in 1992. Determine in 1990.
 - 146½ Curtis Physio-Medical Institute, Marion, Indiana, D. B. Snodgrass, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1881. The first class was grad-
- ganized in 1882. The first class was graduated in 1883. Extinct in 1886.
- 148* Beach Medical College, Indianapolis, Ind. Organized in 1893. In 1894 the name was changed to the Beach Medical Institute, and in 1896 the college was merged into the Indiana Eclectic Medical College.*
- 1481/9 Indiana College of Medicine and Midwifery (Department of Obstetrics, Indiana Eclectic Medical College). Chartered in 1878. Extinct in 1888. Small classes were graduated from 1880 to 1888. Not recognized by Illinois State Board of Health.*
- 148A Eclectic College of Physicians and Surgeons, Indianapolis, Ind. Henry Long, M. D., Dean, 32 Massachusetts avenue. Organ-

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

ized in 1800. The faculty consists of eighteen professors and one demonstrator.

- 148B The American Medical College, Indianapolis, Ind. Northeast corner Washington and Alabama. Russell C. Kelsey, M. D., Dean, 105 E. Ohio street. Organized in 1894. First class was graduated in 1895. The faculty consists of thirty professors, one associate professor and one demonstrator. (See adv.)
- 149 College of Physicians and Surgeons, Keokuk. Iowa. J. C. Hughes, M. D., Dean and Secretary of the Faculty. Organized in 1840. Four years after it became the Medical Department of the University of Iowa, at Keokuk, and upon the organization of the Medical Department of the State University of Iowa, at Iowa City, in 1870, the original name was assumed. The first class was graduated in 1850. Classes were graduated each subsequent year. The factulty embraces twelve professors, three lecturers and two demonstrators.
- 150* Iowa Medical College, Keokuk, Iowa. Organized in 1858. Extinct since 1860.*
- 151 State University of Iowa, Medical Department, Iowa City, Ia. W. D. Middleton, A. M., M. D., Dean; J. W. Harriman, M. D., Secretary of the Medical Faculty. Organized in 1870. The first class was graduated in 1871. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twelve professors, one assistant professor, two lecturers and six demonstrators. (See adv.)
- State University of Iowa, Homeopathic Medical Department, Iowa City, Ia. W. H. Dickinson, M. D., Dean of the faculty; J. G. Glichrist, A. M., M. D., Registrar. Organized in 1877. The first class was graduated in 1878; classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty consists of five professors, one lecturer, and assistants to the chairs of practice of surgery, obstetrics, eye and ear and ophthalmology. The lectures on anatomy, physiology, chemistry and histology are delivered by the professors of the medical department.
- 153 Iowa Medical College—Eelectic (Medical Department of Drake University). Des Moines, Ia. Organized in 1881 as the Iowa Eelectic Medical College, Medical Department of Drake University; assumed its present name in 1883. The first class was graduated in 1892. Extinct in 1887.
- 154 Iowa College of Physicians and Surgeons (Medical Department of Drake University), Des Moines, Ia. Lewis Schooler, M. D., LL. D., Dean. Organized in 1892. The first class was graduated in 1883. The faculty embraces eleven professors, six lecturers and two demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 155* King Eclectic Medical College, Des Moines, In. Organized in 1883. The first class was graduated in 1884. Extinct in 1888.
- 155½ Iowa Eclectic Medical College, Des Moines, Ia. John Cooper. M. D., Dean, Masonic Temple. Organized in 1887. The first class was graduated in 1888. Closed by legal process in 1893.
- 155A Keokuk Medical College, Keokuk, Ia. J. A. Scroggs, M. D., Secretary, 19 N. 5th st. Organized in 1890. First class graduated in 1891. The faculty consists of fourteen professors, two lecturers and one demonstrator of anatomy.
- 155B Sioux City College of Medicine (Medical Department of the University of the Northwest), Sioux City, Ia. J. H. Talboy, M. D..

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of not been verified.

The faculty embraces fifteen pro-Secretary. Organized in 1891. fessors and two demonstrators. (See adv.)

KANSAS.

University of Kansas, Medical Department, Lawrence, Kas. 156 Francis H. Snow, Ph. D., President of the University. Organized in 1880. No graduates. Preparatory medical course.

1561/4* Kansas Medical College, Independence, Kas. Organized in 1872. Was in existence three years and had two graduating classes. Extinct since 1875.*

Wichita Medical College, Wichita, Kas. Organized in 1889. Out of existence.

The Kansas Medical College, Topeka, Kas. J. E. Minney, M. D., 156A Dean, 712 Kansas av. Organized in 1890. The faculty consists of eighteen professors and one assistant, demonstrators of anatomy, and chemistry, and three lecturers.

B College of Physicians and Surgeons of Kansas City, Kas. (Medical Department of the Kansas City University), Central and Park streets, Kansas City, Kas. J. W. May, M. D., Dean; E. M. Hetherington, 907 East 8th st., Kansas City, Mo., Secretary. Organized in 1894. The first class was graduated in 1895. The faculty consists of twenty-eight professors, four lecturers and four demonstrators.

KENTUCKY.

Transylvania University, Medical Department, Lexington, Ky. 157* Organized in 1817. Lectures were delivered at Lexington until 1859, when the institution became extinct. From 1850 to 1859 lectures were delivered during the summer only, the winter session being intermitted to establish the Kentucky School of Medicine at Louisville.*

University of Louisville, Medical Department, Louisville, Ky. 158 J. M. Bodine, M. D., Dean, Eighth and Chestnut streets. Organized in 1837. No lectures were delivered from June, 1862, to June, 1863, and no class was graduated in 1863. The faculty embraces eleven professors, one lecturer, five demonstrators and five assistants.

Eclectic Medical College, Louisville, Ky. Chartered by Legis-1581/4* lature, 1848. Extinct.

Kentucky School of Medicine, Louisville, Ky. Samuel E. Woody, M. D., Dean, 600 W. Broadway. Organized in 1850. The first class was graduated in 1851. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twelve professors, 159 fourteen assistants to chairs and five demonstrators. (See adv.)

Louisville Medical College, Louisville, Ky. C. W. Kelly, M. D., Dean, Second and Green streets. Organized in 1869. The first class 160 was graduated in 1870. Classes have been graduated each subse-The faculty embraces ten professors and thirteen quent year. demonstrators.

Louisville National Medical College, Louisville, Ky. Henry Fitzbutler, M. D., Dean, 112 W. Green street. Organized in 1888. First class graduated in 1889. The faculty consists of ten instructors. 1601/4 (See adv.)

Hospital College of Medicine (Medical Department Central University), Louisville, Ky. P. Richard Taylor, Dean, 229 W. First class was graduated Organized 1873. 1875. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. Faculty embraces ten professors, ten lecturers and fifteen assistants. (See

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

- 161½* Jefferson School of Medicine, Louisville, Ky. Organized in 1882. This school graduated one class (in 1882), and then suspended operations.*
- 161A Southwestern Homoeopathic Medical College, Louisville, Ky. Allison Clokey, M. D., Registrar, corner Second and Chestnut streets. Organized 1893. The faculty embraces eighteen professors and one demonstrator of anatomy. (See adv.)
- LOUISIANA.

 Tulane University, Medical Department, New Orleans, La. Stanford E. Chaille, M. D., Dean of the Faculty, P. O. Drawer 261. Organized in 1834 as the Medical College of Louisiana, and became in 1847 the Medical Department of the University of Louisiana. The civil war caused a suspension of its sessions in 1863, '64 and '65, but its instruction was resumed the session of 1865-66, and continued annually since. The faculty embraces seven professors, who are aided by seven lecturers, three demonstrators and five assistant demonstrators, nineteen chiefs of clinic and one instructor and one assistant instructor of practical pharmacy. In 1885, by act of the Legislature, the name, University of Louisiana, was changed to the Tulane University of Louisiana.
- 163° New Orleans School of Medicine, New Orleans, La. Organized in 1856. Extinct since April, 1870.°
- 104* Charity Hospital Medical College, New Orleans, La. Organized in 1873. Extinct since 1877.*

Medical Department of Straight University, New Orleans, La. No instruction was ever given.

- 165 New Orleans University, Medical Department, New Orleans, La. C. F. Dight, M. D., Dean, 1506 Canal street. Organized in 1889. Open to both sexes and all races. The faculty consists of twelve professors, lecturers and instructors. Four years' graded course. MAINE.
- 166 Medical School of Maine, at Bowdoin College, Brunswick, Me. Alfred Mitchell M. D., Secretary. Organized in 1820. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces ten professors, one clinical instructor and two demonstrators.
- Portland School for Medical Instruction, Portland, Me. C. O. Hunt, M. D., Registrar. Organized in 1855. No diplomas are conferred. "The aim of the school is to afford to medical students greater facilities for obtaining a higher grade of professional education than can usually be given under the direction of a single preceptor." The faculty embraces twelve instructors and one adjunct instructor.
- 168 Eclectic Medical College of Maine, Lewiston, Me. Organized in 1881. Extinct.
- 168½* The Druidic University of Maine, Lewiston, Me. Organized in 1874. Charter revoked by the Legislature in 1887.
- University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, Md. R. D. Coale, M. D., Dean, 865 Park avenue. Organized in 1807, as the College of Medicine of Maryland. In 1812, faculties of law, theology and arts were added, and the whole chartered under the name of the University of Maryland. The degree of M. D. was first conferred in 1810, and degrees have been conferred each year eleven demonstrators, three prosectors and eleven dispensary physicians and chiefs of clinics. (See adv.)

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, however, the convertied."

- 170* Washington University School of Medicine, Baltimore, Md. Organized in 1827, as the Medical Department of Washington College, Pennsylvania. The first class was graduated in 1828, and classes were graduated under the auspices of Washington College until 1840, when the Maryland Legislature empowered the institution to assume the above title. Lectures were delivered and classes graduated until 1851, when it became extinct. In 1867 the institution was reorganized, and lectures were thence delivered until 1877, when the institution was merged into the College of Physicians and Surgeons, Baltimore.*
- The College of Physicians and Surgeons, Baltimore, Md. Thomas Opie, M. D., Dean, 219 Monument street w. Organized and incorporated under the laws of the State of Maryland in 1872. In 1877 the Washington University School of Medicine, which was established in 1827, was merged into the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Baltimore. In 1878 an enactment of the General Assembly of Maryland ratified the union of the two schools under the latter title, and conferred upon it all the rights, powers and privileges of both schools combined. The faculty embraces thirteen professors, eight associate professors and eighteen demonstrators. (See adv.)
- Baltimore Medical College, Baltimore, Md. David Streett, M. D., Dean, 403 N. Exeter street. Organized in 1881. The first class was graduated in 1882. The faculty embraces fifteen professors, nine lecturers, twenty-three demonstrators and two instructors. (See adv.)
- 173 Baltimore University School of Medicine, Baltimore, Md. Z. K. Wiley, M. D., Dean, 724 N. Carey street. Owing to dissension in the Baltimore Medical College, after the close of its session of 1883-84, a charter was obtained under the above title for this school, which graduated its first class in 1885. The faculty embraces ten professors, ten lecturers and six demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 174 Woman's Medical College of Baltimore, Baltimore, Md. I. R. Trimble, M. D., Dean, 214 W. Franklin street. Organized in 1882. The first class was graduated in 1883. The faculty embraces twelve professors, five lecturers, five demonstrators and eight clinical assistants. (See adv.)
- Medical Department of the Johns Hopkins University, Balti-175 more, Md., D. C. Gilman, LL. D., President of the University; William H. Welch, M. D., Dean of the Faculty. The Johns Hopkins Medical School was opened in the year 1893. It provides a four years' course, which is open only to those who have received a college degree and, in addition to the usual studies, have had a year's work in chemistry, in physics and in blology, and can show a reading knowledge of French and German-or to those who show by examination an equivalent training. There are well-equipped laboratories for work in anatomy, physiology, pathology, bacteriology, pharmacology and physiological chemistry. Clinical facilities are provided by the Johns Hopkins Hospital. A preliminary course for young men proposing to study medicine was instituted in 1877 and is still continued in the Philosophical Department of the Uni-This course leads to the degree of Bachelor of Arts. versity. There is also, in connection with the Johns Hopkins Hospital, systematic post-graduate instruction in pathology and bacteriology, medicine, surgery, gynecology, psychiatry, history of medicine, laryngology, diseases of children, nervous diseases, genito-urinary diseases, ophthalmology and otology and dermatology. Information

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

respecting the Hospital Course will be received from the Superintendent, Henry M. Hurd, M. D. (See adv.)

175A Southern Homocopathic Medical College and Hospital, Baltimore, Md. Organized in 1900. The first class was graduated in 1802. The faculty consists of fifteen professors, six lecturers and five demonstrators.

MASSACHUSETTS.

- Harvard University Medical School, Boston, Mass. Wm. L. Richardson, M. D., Dean, Boylston and Exeter streets. Organized in 1782. The first class was graduated in 1783, and classes have been graduated in each subsequent year. The instruction is given by twenty professors, seven assistant professors, nineteen instructors, two lecturers, two demonstrators, forty assistants to chairs, one curator and nine special clinical instructors. The faculty is composed of the professors, assistant professors and others whose term of appointment is longer than for one year. The required course covers four years of nine months each. (See adv.)
- 177 Berkshire Medical College (Medical Department of Williams College), Pittsfield, Mass. Organized in 1824. Lectures were delivered until 1867, when the college became extinct. During its existence 1.138 students were graduated.
- 178* Worcester Medical College (Eclectic), Worcester, Mass. Organized in 1848 as the New England Botanico-Medical College. Reorganized in 1852 under above title. Lectures were delivered until 1859, and its charter has been kept valid by the Board of Trustees.*
- 179 New England Female Medical College, Boston, Mass. Organized in 1848. Lectures were delivered and classes graduated until 1874, when it was merged into the Boston University School of Medicine.
- 180 Boston University School of Medicine (Homocopathic), Boston. Mass. I. Tisdale Talbot, M. D., Dean, 685 Boylston street. Organized in 1873. The first class graduated in 1874. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. In 1874 the New England Female Medical College was united with this school. The faculty embraces sixteen professors, seven associate professors, nine lecturers, seven instructors, one demonstrator of anatomy, and six assistant demonstrators, a librarian and two assistant librarians. Four years' course required. (See adv.)

181 College of Physicians and Surgeons, Boston, Mass. A. P. Clarke, A. M., M. D., Dean; Rev. David Shurtleff, Registrar, 517 Shawmut ave. Organized in 1889. The first class was graduated fessors, lecturers and demonstrators. (See adv.)

182 New England University of Arts and Sciences, Boston, Mass.
Fraudulent. Extinct since 1881.*

Relieves Market Science 1881.*

183* Bellevue Medical College of Massachusetts, Boston, Mass. Organized in 1880. Charter repealed in 1883. Fraudulent.*

84 Medical Department of the American University of Boston, Boston, Mass. Extinct 1883.

*First Medical College of the American Health Society, Boston.

Mass. Extinct 1883.

*Excelsior Medical College, Boston, Mass. Extinct 1883. 184A Clark University, Medical Department, Worcester, Mass. G. Stanley Hall, Ph. D., L.L. D., President, Chartered in 1887. The department is not an institution for conferring the degree of M. D.,

As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have

but one in which graduates in medicine, and college graduates intending to study medicine, may study the purely scientific parts of medicine. The officers of instruction are four professors, three assistant professors, one adjunct professor, one instructor, ten docents, two honorary fellows, seventeen fellows and four assistants.

- 184B Tufts College Medical School, Boston, Mass. Charles P. Thayer, M. D., Secretary, 188 Boylston street. Organized in 1893. First class was graduated in 1894. The faculty embraces eighteen professors, seven lecturers, four instructors, seven clinical assistants and two demonstrators. (See adv.)
 MICHIGAN.
- 185 University of Michigan, Department of Medicine and Surgery, Ann Arbor, Mich. Victor C. Vaughan, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1850. The first class was graduated in 1851. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces thirteen professors, a demonstrator of anatomy, two assistant professors, three lecturers, four instructors, five class demonstrators and sixteen assistants. (See adv.)
- 185A* Michigan School of Homoeopathy and Surgery, Detroit, Mich. Incorporated February 23d, 1863. Extinct.*
- 185½ Detroit College of Medicine, Detroit, Mich. Theo. A. McGraw, M. D., President; H. O. Walker, M. D., Secretary, 27 Adams avenue east. Formed through the consolidation, in 1885, of the Michigan College of Medicine with the Detroit Medical College. The faculty embraces twenty-three professors and ten assistants, three lecturers and two demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 186 Detroit Medical College, Detroit, Mich. Organized in 1868. The first class was graduated in 1869. Classes were graduated each subsequent year until its consolidation, in 1885, with the Michigan College of Medicine under the name of the Detroit College of Medicine.
- 186½* Michigan Medical College, Lansing, Mich. Incorporated, 1871. Extinct since 1873.*
- 187* Detroit Homoeopathic Medical College, Detroit, Mich. Organized in 1871. Extinct since 1876.*
- 188 University of Michigan Homocopathic Medical College, Ann Arbor, Mich. W. B. Hinsdale, M. S., M. D., Dean; R. S. Copeland, M. D., Secretary. Organized in 1875. The first class was graduated in 1877. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces five full professors, one lecturer, four assistant professors and a resident physician and surgeon in hospital. Seven professors of the department of medicine and surgery (regular school) give instruction to homocopathic students.
- 188A* Detroit University of Rational Medicine and Surgery, Detroit, Mich. Incorporated 1880. Extinct.*
- 1888 Michigan Eclectic Medical College, Detroit, Mich. Incorporated 1880, Extinct.*
- 188C* Detroit University of Medicine, Detroit, Mich. Incorporated November 20, 1881. Extinct.*
- 189 Michigan College of Medicine, Detroit, Mich. Organized in 1880. First class was graduated in 1881, and a class was graduated each year till 1885. In 1885 the college amalgamated with the Detroit Medical College under the name of the Detroit College of Medicine.
- 189½ Michigan College of Medicine and Surgery, Detroit, Mich. Hal C. Wyman, M. D., Dean, 46 Adams avenue west. Organized in 1888.

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

First class graduated in 1889. The faculty embraces eleven professors, four instructors, one demonstrator and seven lecturers. MINNESOTA.

190 Winom Medical School, Winom. Minn. Organized in 1872. Extinct. No diplomas were issued, it being a school of instruction only.

190½ The College of Homocopathic Medicine and Surgery of the University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minn. Alonzo P. Williamson, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1888, absorbing the Minnesota Homocopathic Medical College. First class was graduated in 1889. The faculty embraces fourteen professors. (See adv.)

191 Minnesota Hospital Medical College, St. Paul, Minn. Organized in 1881, as the successor of the St. Paul Medical College, founded in 1878. Reorganized in 1885 under above title. Merged into the Medical Department of the University of Minnesota in 1887.

191½ Medical Department of Hamline University (Minneapolis College of Physicians and Surgeons), Minneapolis, Minn. J. T. Moore, M. D., Dean of the Faculty, 307 Masonic Temple. Organized fall of 1883. First class was graduated in the spring of 1885. The faculty embraces twenty professors, one associate professor, three clinical professors and a demonstrator of anatomy.

The College of Medicine and Surgery of the University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minn. Perry H. Millard, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1883. The faculty were limited to the examination of applicants for the degrees of M. B. and M. D. Reorganized as a teaching body in 1888, absorbing the Minnesota Hospital College and the St. Paul Medical College. The faculty consists of twenty-one professors, fifteen instructors, one lecturer and one demonstrator of anatomy.

192½ St. Paul Medical College, St. Paul, Minn. Organized in 1878. In 1880 it united with the Minnesota Hospital College. Reorganized in 1885 under its original title. In 1888 it was merged into the College of Medicine and Surgery of the University of Minnesota.

192A Woman's Medical College, Minneapolis, Minn. Extinct. MISSOURI.

Missouri Medical College, St. Louis, Mo. P. Gervais Robinson, M. D., Dean, 2710 Washington avenue: Henry M. Whelpley, M. D., Secretary, 425 Clark avenue. Organized in 1840 as the Medical Department of Kemper College. In 1845 it became the Medical Department of the University of Missouri. In 1855 it assumed its present name. The first class was graduated in 1841. It was suspended during the war, and no students were graduated in 1862, '63. '64 or '65. It is sometimes called after its founder. The McDowell Medical College. The faculty embraces sixteen professors, five clinical professors, two assistant professors, eight chiefs of clinics, sixteen clinical assistants, three lecturers, one instructor and one demonstrator. (See adv.)

Medical Department of Washington University (The St. Louis Medical College), St. Louis, Mo. Henry M. Mudd, M. D., Dean, 2804 Locust; E. M. Senseney, M. D., Secretary, 2829 Washington avenue. Organized in 1841 as the Medical Department of the St. Louis University. In 1855 it was chartered as an independent institution under the name of the St. Louis Medical College. In 1891 it became the Medical Department of Washington University. The first class was graduated in 1843. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-two professors, one assistant professor, four lecturers and six instructors. (See adv.)

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified

- University of the State of Missouri, Medical School, Columbia, Mo. A. M. McAlister, Dean; Woodson Moss, Secretary. Organized in 1845. The first class was graduated in 1846. From 1845 to 1855 the Medical Department was situated at St. Louis. See Missouri Medical College. No degrees were conferred during the war, 1861-65. Faculty embraces eight professors, four lecturers, three assistants and one demonstrator.
- Humboldt Medical College, St. Louis, Mo. Incorporated February 28, 1855, as the St. Louis College of Medicine and Natural Sciences. In 1859 it became the Humboldt Institute, a German college for the promotion of natural sciences and medicine. It retained this name until 1866, when the present one was assumed. Before the lectures commenced for the session of 1869-70, a split occurred in the faculty, a portion of which organized the College of Physicians and Surgeons. Lectures discontinued after the session of 1869-70.
- 196A The Marion-Sims College of Medicine, St. Louis, Mo. Young H. Bond, M. D., Dean, Grand and Page avenues; Hanau W. Loeb, M. D., Secretary, 3536 Olive. Organized in 1890. First class was graduated in 1891. The faculty embraces twenty-one professors, seven lecturers, four demonstrators and eighteen assistants. (See adv.)
- Homoeopathic Medical College of Missourl, St. Louis, Mo. Wm. C. Richardson, M. D., Dean, 3913 N. Eleventh; L. C. McElwee, M. D., Secretary, 215 S. Jefferson av. Chartered originally in 1857; reorganized in 1882. Between the years 1869 and 1881, the following homoeopathic colleges were organized in St. Louis, vlz: The St. Louis College of Homoeopathic Physicians and Surgeons, organized 1869; held two sessions and suspended after session of 1870-71. The Homoeopathic Medical College of St. Louis, organized 1873. The Hering Medical College, organized in 1880. The Alumni Association of Homoeopathic Colleges of Missouri, organized in 1830. In 1880 a portion of the faculty of the Homoeopathic Medical College of Missouri seceded and revived the St. Louis College of Homoeopathic Physicians and Surgeons, which again held two sessions; but after the session of 1881-82 this college and the Hering were consolidated with the Homoeopathic Medical College of Missouri. The faculty embraces twenty professors and six lecturers. (See adv.)
- 198 Kansas City Medical College, Kansas City, Mo. E. W. Schauffler, M. D., President; Joseph Sharp, M. D., Secretary. Organized in 1869, as the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Kansas City. The first class was graduated in 1870; classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The school assumed its present name in 1881. The faculty embraces seventeen professors, six lecturers, ten demonstrators and instructors.
- 190° St. Louis College of Homoeopathic Physicians and Surgeons, St. Louis, Mo. Organized in 1869. Suspended after the sessions of 1870-71. See Homoeopathic Medical College of Missouri.
- 200* St. Louis Eclectic Medical College, St. Louis, Mo. Organized in 1874. Extinct in 1883. Closed by legal process.*
- 201 Homoeopathic Medical College of St. Louis, St. Louis, Mo. Organized in 1873. Extinct since 1883.*
- American Medical College (Eclectic), St. Louis, Mo. E. Younkin, M. D., Dean, 3035 Lucas ave. Organized in 1873. The first class was graduated in 1874. Classes were graduated twice annually from that date up to 1883, but only one annual commencement is now held for the two regular annual sessions. The faculty embraces fifteen professors and two demonstrators. (See adv.)

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates. have not been verified.

- 203 St. Joseph Hospital Medical College, St. Joseph, Mo. Organized in 1876. Five classes, containing forty-five students, were graduated. In 1882 this college was merged into the St. Joseph Medical College. See Ensworth Medical College.
- 204 College of Physicians and Surgeons of St. Joseph. St. Joseph. Mo. Organized in 1878. Three classes, containing fifty students, were graduated. In 1882 this college was merged into the St. Joseph Medical College. See Ensworth Medical College.
- St. Louis College of Physicians and Surgeons, St. Louis, Mo. Waldo Briggs, M. D., Dean, 1405 Olive; John A. James-James, M. D., Secretary, 2836 Lafayette ave. Organized in 1878. The first class was graduated in 1880. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces sixteen professors, three demonstrators, four clinical lecturers and ten clinical assistants. (See adv.)
- 206 Joplin College of Physicians and Surgeons, Joplin, Mo. Organized in 1880. The first class was graduated in 1881. The school became extinct in 1884.
- 206%* Medical College of Kansas City, Kansas City, Mo. Organized in 1869. Three sessions were held. Extinct in 1873.*
- 207* Hering Medical College (Homoeopathic). St. Louis, Mo. Organized in 1880. Consolidated with the Homoeopathic Medical College of Missouri in 1882.
- 207½ Beaumont Hospital Medical College, St. Louis, Mo. W. B. Outten, M. D., Dean, 3515 Pine; John T. Larew, M. D., Secretary, 1100 Garrison ave. Organized in 1886. First class was graduated in 1887. The faculty embraces twenty-two professors, six instructors and thirteen clinical assistants. (See p 1721.)

208 Northwestern Medical College of St. Joseph, St. Joseph, Mo. Organized in 1880. Extinct.

- 208½ Kansas City Homoeopathic Medical College, Kansas City, Mo. Wm. Davis Foster, M. D., Dean, 420 W. 11th st. Organized in 1889. The faculty embraces twenty professors, five lecturers and two demonstrators.
- 200 University Medical College of Kansas City, Kansas City, Mo. Lyman A. Berger, A. M., M. D., Secretary, 1201 Grand ave. Organized in 1881 as the University of Kansas City, Medical Department. Reorganized in 1888. The first class was graduated in 1882. The faculty embraces thirty-two professors. (See adv.)
- 209%. Joplin Medical College, Joplin, Mo. Organized in 1881. Extinct in 1882.
- Ensworth Medical College, St. Joseph, Mo. Thomas H. Doyle.
 M. D., Dean, corner 9th and Felix sts.; W. J. Bell, A. M., M. D.,
 Secretary, 613 Francis st. Organized in 1882 as the St. Joseph
 Medical College by the union of the St. Joseph Hospital Medical
 College and the College of Physicians and Surgeons of St. Joseph
 Reorganized in 1888 under above title. The first class graduated in
 1883. The faculty embraces fifteen professors and three demonstrators.
- 210½ St. Louis Hygienic College of Physicians and Surgeons, St. Louis, Mo. Incorporated in 1887. Suspended in 1895.

Kansas City Hospital College of Medicine, Kansas City, Mo. Organized in 1882. The first class was graduated in 1883. Extinct

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates. however, the production of the produc

2111/2* St. Louis Hahnemann Medical College, St. Louis, Mo. Organized in 1873. One course of lectures delivered. Matriculates, 10; graduates, 4. Extinct in 1874.*

Woman's Medical College of St. Louis (Homoeopathic), St. 212* Louis, Mo. Organized in 1883, and after giving one course of lec-

tures it became extinct.*

Occidental College of Physicians and Surgeons, Joplin, Mo. Incorporated, 1876. Extinct in 1887.

American Anthropological University of St. Louis. A diploma from this University was presented for record in Indiana in 1885. This is the first instance that has come to the knowledge of the Board of any diplomas of this school being held in this country and presented as a qualification to practice medicine. Diplomas of this institution were sold in Scotland several years ago, and the attention of the Board was called to the same by Hon. John Eaton, then U. S. Commissioner of Education. Through prosecutions during the year 1885, in Germany, it has been ascertained that parties held diplomas from this institution in that country. This so called insti-tution never had a legitimate existence; only one of the original incorporators and officers is now living, and he says that he never signed a diploma.

Barnes Medical College, St. Louis, Mo. C. H. Hughes, M. D., President, 3857 Olive; Pinckney French, M. D., Secretary, 609 Union Trust Bldg. Organized in 1892. The first class was graduated in 1893. The faculty embraces twenty-two professors, four lecturers. nineteen clinical instructors and two assistants to the chair of

anatomy. (See adv.)

St. Louis Woman's Medical College and Hospital, St. Louis, Mo. (formerly Woman's Medical College). George F. Hurlbut, M. D., Dean, 4270 Delmar boul.; Frank P. Norbury, M. D., Secretary, 1006 Olive. Incorporated in 1891. The first class was graduated in 1893. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-six professors, three lecturers and two demonstrators. (See adv.)

The Central Medical College of St. Joseph, Mo. T. E. Potter, M. D., Secretary, 9th and Felix sts. Organized in 1894. The first class was graduated in 1895. The faculty embraces twenty-one professors, five lecturers and three demonstrators of anatomy.

Woman's Medical College, Kansas City, Mo. F. B. Tiffany, M. 213D D., Dean; John Punton, M. D., Secretary, 13th and Grand ave. Organized in 1895. The first class was graduated in 1896. The faculty embraces twenty-five professors, seven lecturers and two demoustrators. (See adv.)

NEBRASKA.

Omaha Medical College, Omaha, Neb. W. O. Bridges, M. D., Secretary, 118 N. 18th st. Organized in 1881. The outgrowth of a 214 preparatory school established in 1880 under the name of the Nebraska School of Medicine. Four years graded course, requirements complying with State boards of health. The faculty embraces twenty-two professors and ten assistants.

A Medical Department Cotner University, Lincoln, Neb. W. S. Latta, M. D., Dean, 1116 L st. Organized in 1889 as the Medical Department of the Nebraska Christian University, Bethany Heights, Lincoln. The first class was graduated in 1891. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty consists of fourteen professors, six lecturers and three demonstrators. (See adv.)

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names a physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, how set been veryled.

215 University of Nebraska, College of Medicine (Regular Department), Lincoln, Neb. Organized in 1883. The first class was graduated in 1884. Extinct in 1887.

216 University of Nebraska, College of Medicine (Homoeopathic Department), Lincoln, Neb. Organized in 1883. First class was

graduated in 1884. Extinct in 1887.

217 University of Nebraska, College of Medicine (Eclectic Department), Lincoln, Neb. Organized in 1883. First class was graduated in 1884. Extinct in 1885.

- 217A The John A. Creighton Medical College (Medical Department of the Creighton University), Omaha, Neb. DeWitt C. Bryant, A. M., M. D., Secretary. Organized in 1892. The faculty consists of twenty-five professors, four lecturers, four demonstrators of anatomy and five assistants to chairs. The course consists of four years, one term of seven months each year. (See adv.)

 NEW HAMPSHIRE.
- 218 Dartmouth Medical College, Hanover, N. H. Carlton P. Frost, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1797. The first class was graduated in 1798. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces a president and fifteen professors.

219 New England University of the Arts and Sciences, Manchester, N. H. Incorporated 1876. Act repealed 1877. Extinct. Fraud-

ulent.

- 219½° University of New Hampshire, Department of Medicine, Nashua, N. H. Chartered and organized in 1888. First course of lectures opened October, 1889. Extinct. Fraudulent.*
 NEW JERSEY.
- 220 Medical and Surgical College of the State of New Jersey, Jersey City, N. J. Incorporated in 1880. Charter amended in 1888. No session since 1889.

1. Livingston University, Haddonfield, N. J. Fraudulent and ex-

tinct.*

222. Hygeio-Therapeutic College, Bergen Heights, N. J. Fraudulent

and extinct.

- 222A College of Fine Forces, East Orange, N. J. E. D. Babbitt, M. D., Dean, 282 Main at. Founded in 1883. Chartered under the laws of the State of New York, as the New York College of Magnetics in 1887, and again incorporated under the laws of New Jersey as the College of Fine Forces in 1893. The faculty consists of two professors.
- NEW YORK. 223 College of Physicians and Surgeons in the City of New York (Medical Department of Columbia College), New York City. Edwin B. Cragin, M. D., Secretary, 437 W. Fifty-ninth st. Organized in 1807, by the regents of the University of the State of New York, as their medical department, under the name of the College of Physiclans and Surgeons in the City of New York. The institution was connected with the Columbia College for a short period in 1814, and became permanently connected with it in 1800, when the "Medical Department of Columbia College" was added to the original title. The original Medical Department of Columbia College was organized in 1767; is was suspended during the war of the revolution, and became extinct in 1813. The first class was graduated by this college in 1811. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-seven professors, six clinical lecturers, fourteen demonstrators, seven instructors, two tutors, eleven chiefs of clinic and fifty-eight clinical assistants.

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

- 224* College of Physicians and Surgeons of the Western District of New York, Fairfield, N. Y. Organized in 1812. Merged part into the Albany Medical College and part into Geneva Medical College in 1841. During its existence it afforded instruction to 3,123 students and graduated 589.*
- 225* New Medical Institution (Medical Department of Queen's College, New Jersey), New York City. Organized in 1814. Suspended in 1816. In 1826 the Medical Institution was revived under the auspices of Rutger's (formerly Queen's) College, N. J., but became extinct in 1830.*
- 226* New York Reformed Medical College (Eclectic), New York City. Organized in 1836. Extinct 1838.*
- 227* New York School of Medicine, New York City. Organized under the auspices of the New York County Medical Society in 1831.*
- 228* Auburn Medical School, Auburn, N. Y. Extinct.*
- 229* Geneva Medical College, Geneva, N. Y. Organized in 1836. Merged into the College of Medicine of Syracuse University in 1872.*
- Albany Medical College (Medical Department of Union University), Albany, N. Y. Willis G. Tucker, M. D., Registrar, 4 Lancaster st. Organized in 1838. The first class was graduated in 1839. It became connected with Union University in 1873, when the present title was assumed. The faculty embraces thirteen professors, three adjunct professors, one demonstrator of anatomy, six lecturers, fourteen instructors and eight clinical assistants. (See adv.)
- University of the City of New York, Medical Department (University Medical College), New York City. Charles Inslee Pardee, M. D., Dean, 410 E. Twenty-sixth st. Organized in 1841. The first class was graduated in 1842. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces ten professors, two emeritus professors, five adjunct professors, six clinical professors, one assistant professor, fifteen lecturers and tutors, fifteen assistants and two demonstrators of anatomy. (See adv.)
- University of Buffalo, Medical Department, Buffalo, N. Y. John Parmenter, M. D., Secretary, 519 Franklin st. Organized in 1846. The first class was graduated in 1847. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces eleven professors, four adjunct professors, thirteen special professors, sixteen lecturers and instructors, twenty-six clinical instructors, two directors of laboratory, two demonstrators and one prosector. (See adv.)
- 233 New York Medical College, New York City. Organized in 1852. The last session was held in 1863-64.
- 234* Medical College of New York City, New York City. Extinct.*
- 235* Excelsior Medical College, New York City. Extinct.*
- 236* Metropolitan Medical College (Eclectic), New York City. Organized, 1852. Incorporated, March, 1857. Charter repealed April 12, 1862.*
- 236½* Central Medical College of New York (Eclectic), Syracuse, N Y. Organized in 1848. Extinct 1855.*
- 237* Syracuse Medical College (Eclectic), Syracuse, N. Y. Organized in 1850. Extinct 1857.*
- 238* Rochester Eclectic Medical College, Rochester, N. Y. Organized in 1848. Lectures delivered during three or four sessions. Extinct, 1852.*

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

239 Long Island College Hospital, Brooklyn, N. Y. J. H. Raymond, M. D., Secretary of the faculty, Henry street, between Pacific and Amity streets. Organized in 1858. The first class was graduated in 1860. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces ten professors, eight professors of special subjects, one demonstrator and twenty-eight instructors and assistants. During the reading and recitation term there are engaged twelve lecturers and one demonstrator.

New York Homoeopathic Medical College and Hospital, New York City. Wm. Tod Helmuth, M. D., LL. D., Dean, 200 Madison ave., New York City; L. L. Danforth, M. D., Secretary, 35 W. 51st st. Organized in 1858. The first class was graduated in 1856. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-five professors, one adjunct professor, six clinical assistants. four lecturers, three demonstrators, one assistant demonstrator, two assistants to chairs and one laboratory instructor. (See

Believue Hospital Medical College, New York City. Austin Flint, M. D., Secretary of the faculty, 60 E. 34th st. Organized in 1861. The first class was graduated in 1862. Chasses have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces nine professors, three adjunct professors or lecturers, two clinical professors, ten professors of special departments, one lecturer, four demonstrators, two prosectors and seventeen assistants to chairs. Twenty-five teachers give instruction during the spring term. (See adv.)

New York Medical College and Hospital for Women (Homocopathic). New York City. Phoebe J. B. Wait, M. D., Dean, Ninth ave and 24th st. Organized in 1863. The first class was graduated in 1864. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces sixteen professors, four assistant professors, six lecturers, one demonstrator and one assistant demonstrator. (See adv.)

242½° Brooklyn Academy of Medicine, Brooklyn, N. Y. (Auxiliary to the Eclectic Medical Society of the State of New York.) Incorporated, April 24, 1866. Charter revoked about 1880.*

243 Eclectic Medical College of the City of New York, New York City. George W. Boskowitz, Dean, 40 E. 41st st. Organized in 1865. The first class was graduated in 1866. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-six professors, lecturers and demonstrators. (See adv.)

244 Woman's Medical College of the New York Infirmary, New York City. Emily Blackwell, M. D., Dean, 321 E. 15th st. Organized in 1868. The first class was graduated in 1870. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces eleven professors, seven clinical professors, three demonstrators and eleven instructors.

244A Homocopathic College, Buffalo, N. Y. Extinct previous to 1874.
 245* New York Free Medical College for Women, New York City.
 Organized in 1871. Extinct, 1877.*

246 Syracuse University, College of Medicine, Syracuse, N. Y. David M. Tetman, A. M., M. D., Registrar, 303 Montgomery st. Organized in 1872, as the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Syracuse University. In 1875 it assumed its present title. The Geneva Medical College, organized in 1836, was merged into this institution. The first class was graduated in 1873. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-eight prefessors, lecturers, instructors and demonstrators. (See adv.)

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduals. however, the production is a production of the productio

- 247 The Regents of the University of New York State. Office at Albany, N. Y. M. Dewey, Secretary. Grant licenses to practice medicine and surgery to those who pass the State boards of medical examiners. (See New York Laws.)
- 248 United States Medical College (Eclectic), New York City. Organized in 1878. Extinct since 1882.
- 249 College of Physicians and Surgeons of Buffalo, Buffalo, N. Y. Organized in 1879. The first class was graduated in 1880. No class was graduated in 1882. Extinct.*
- 250 Ningara University. Medical Department, Buffalo, N. Y. A. A. Hubbell, M. D., Secretary, 212 Franklin st. Organized in 1883. The first class was graduated in 1886. The faculty embraces seventeen professors, four adjunct professors, six lecturers, two demonstrators and four assistants.
- 251* Hygelo-Therapeutic College of New York, New York City. Chartered 1856. Extinct 1867.*

NORTH CAROLINA.

- 252° University of North Carolina, Medical Department, Chapel Hill, N. C. Organized in 1796. It granted diplomas in former years, but does not now give medical instruction.*
- 253* Edinborough Medical College, Robeson County, N. C. Extinct.*
- 254 Leonard Medical School (Medical Department of Shaw University), Raleigh, N. C. James McKee, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1882 for the education of colored students of both sexes. First class was graduated in 1886. The faculty consists of eight professors.

OHIO.

- 255 Medical College of Ohio, Cincinnati, O. James G. Hyndman, M. D., Secretary, 22 W. Ninth st.; W. W. Seely, A. M., M. D., Dean. Organized in 1819. The first class was graduated in 1821. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. In 1858 The Miami Medical College was merged into this institution, and continued in this relation until 1805, when the Miami was re-established. In 1887 it became the Medical Department of the University of Cincinnati, and in 1894 the college severed this relationship. The faculty consists of eleven professors, twelve assistants to chairs, four adjunct professors, three lecturers and six demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 256* Worthington Medical College, Medical Department of Ohio University, Worthington, O. Organized in 1832. Removed to Cincinnati in 1843. Classes were graduated in 1834, 1835, 1836, 1837 and 1838. In 1845 the name was changed, and it became the Eclectic Medical Institute.*
- 257* The Cincinnati Medical College. Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1834. Merged into the Medical College of Ohio in 1846.*
- 258* Willoughby University Medical Department, Willoughby, Lake County, O. Organized in 1835. Merged into Starling Medical College, Columbus. O., in 1847.*
- 259* Physio-Medical College (Cincinnati Literary and Scientific Institute), Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1836. Graduated classes until 1880. Extinct.*
- 200* American Medical College (Eclectic), Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1839. Merged into the Eclectic Medical Institute in 1857.*
- 26014. Botanico-Medical College of Ohio, Cincinnati, O. Chartered in 1838. Extinct in 1880.

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

Medical Department of Western Reserve University (Cleveland 261 Medical College, Medical Department of Adelbert College of the Western Reserve University), Cleveland, O. G. C. Ashmun, M. D., Registrar, 794 Republic st. Organized in 1843, as the Cleveland Medical College, Medical Department of Western Reserve College. Reorganized in 1881 by a union of the faculty of the Cleveland Medical College and a majority of the faculty of the Medical Department of Wooster University, as the Medical Department of Western Reserve University. This title was changed in the same year to the Medical Department of Adelbert College of Western Reserve University. In March, 1882, the board of trustees of Western Reserve University conferred the ad eundem degree of doctor of medicine upon all graduates of the Cleveland Medical College, and upon such graduates of the Wooster Medical Department prior to 1881, as desired it. In 1884 the present title was assumed. The first class was graduated in 1814. Classes have been graduated in each subsequent year. The faculty embraces seventeen professors, three instructors and six assistants. (See adv.)

262 Eclectic Medical Institute, Cincinnati, O. Fred J. Locke, M. D., Dean: John K. Scudder, M. D., Secretary, 1009 Plum st. Organized in 1845, as the successor of the Worthington Medical College (organized in 1833). The American Medical College was merged into this school in 1857, and the Eclectic College of Medicine in 1859. The first class was graduated in 1845, and two classes have been graduated each subsequent year up to 1804, since which time one session only has been held each year and one graduating class. The faculty embraces sixteen professors, two lecturers, three demonstrators and six clinical instructors. (See adv.)

263

Starling Medical College, Columbus, O. Thomas C. Hoover, M. D., Registrar, 249 E. State st.; Starling Loving, M. D., Dean. ganized in 1847. The first class was graduated in 1848, and classes have been graduated in each subsequent year. The faculty embraces fourteen professors, eight lecturers and three demonstrators.

263½° Homoeopathic College for Women, Cleveland, O. Merged into the Homoeopathic Hospital College of Cleveland, O., 1870° (known

now as the Cleveland University of Medicine and Surgery).

264 Homoeopathic Hospital College of Cleveland, O. Name changed to Cleveland University of Medicine and Surgery (Key number

264A) in 1893.

Cleveland University of Medicine and Surgery, 62 Huron st., Cleveland, O. Harlan Pomeroy, Registrar, 526 Prospect st. ganized in 1849 as the Western College of Homocopathic Medicine. In 1857 the name was changed to the Western Homoeopathic College. In 1870 the name was changed to the Homocopathic Hospital College, and in 1893 the corporation assumed its present title. In 1870 the Homoeopathic College for Women was merged into this institution. The first class was graduated in 1850. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces nineteen professors, six lecturers, three demonstrators and two assistant demonstrators. (See adv.) 265

Cincinnati College of Medicine and Surgery, Cincinnati, O. S. C. Ayres, A. M., M. D., Dean; W. E. Lewis, M. D., Secretary, 400 E. 5th st. Organized in 1849. The first class was graduated in 1852. and one or more classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces seventeen professors, five assistant professors and a full corps of lecturers, instructors and assistants. (See adv.)

266 Miami Medical College, Cincinnati, O. N. P. Dandridge, M. D., Dean, 422 Broadway. Organized in 1852. Classes were graduated

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomae granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of specians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have

from 1853 to 1857, inclusive. In 1858 this college was merged into the Medical College of Ohio. In 1865 the Miami Medical College was re-established, and a class was graduated in 1866, since which time classes have been graduated annually. The faculty embraces fourteen professors, seven demonstrators, fourteen lecturers and assistants to chairs and one pharmacist. (See adv.)

267 Eclectic College of Medicine, Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1856. Classes were graduateed in 1857, 1858 and 1859. Merged into the Eclectic Medical Institute in 1859.

268 Physio-Medral Institute, Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1859. The first class was graduated in 1860. Extinct, 1885.

269 University of Wooster, Medical Department, Cleveland, O. Henry W. Rogers, M. D., Secretary, 21 Vestry st. Organized in

296A Cleveland College of Physicians and Surgeons (Medical Department of the Ohio Wesleyan University), Cleveland, O. Formerly the Medical Department of the University of Wooster, which see. H. E. Handerson, M. D., 444 Dunbam av., Registrar. H. W. Rogers, M. D., 21 Vestry st., Secretary. (See p 1639.)
(See adv.)

2601/4* Zanesville Academy of Medicine, Zanesville, O. Incorporated 1872. Extinct, 1882.*

270 Pulte Medical College (Homoeopathic), Cincinnati, O. Charles, E. Walton, M. D., Registrar, Seventh and John sts. Organized in 1872. The first class was graduated in 1873. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces sixteen professors, eight lecturers and four demonstrators. (See adv.)

271* American Health College, Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1874-76.*

272 Columbus Medical College, Columbus, O. Organized in 1875. The first class was graduated in 1876. Classes were graduated each subsequent year until 1892. Extinct.

273* Physio-Eclectic Medical College, Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1876. Extinct. In 1879 the name was changed to the American Eclectic Medical College, and a new charter was obtained.*

274 American Eclectic Medical College—1879-1882, Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1879, as the successor of the Physio-Eclectic Medical College. Extinct.*

275* Toledo School of Medicine, Toledo, O. Organized in 1878, as a school of instruction only, and did not confer degrees. It held three sessions and was then suspended. See Northwestern Ohio Medical College.*

276 American Eclectic Medical College of Ohio, Cincinnati, O. L. M. Bickmore, M. D., Dean, 515 Everett st. Organized in 1883, as the successor of the institution of the same name. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twelve professors, three lecturers and three demonstrators.

277 Toledo Medical College, Toledo, O. Wm. J. Gillette, M. D., Secretary, 705 Madison st. Organized in 1882. First class was graduated in 1883. The faculty embraces eighteen professors, eleven lecturers and demonstrators and six special lecturers.

2771/4 International Electropathic Institution, Mentor, O. Established 1889. Extinct in 1894.

278 Northwestern Ohio Medical College, Toledo, O. Organized in 1883. This college was an outgrowth of the Toledo School of Medicine, Suspended in 1892.

^{*}As no tiet of the diplomae granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

- 2784 Medical University of Ohio, Cincinnati, O. Incorporated 1883.
- 279* College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbus, O. No definite information.*
- 279½ Woman's Medical College of Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1887. First class was graduated in 1888. Merged into the Laura Memorial College (Cincinnati) in July, 1895.
- 279A College of Medicine, Lebanon, O. Selden S. Scoville, A. M., M. D., Dean. Organized in 1889. The faculty embraces eight professors and one adjunct professor.
- 279B The Cleveland Medical College, Cleveland, O. William T. Miller, M. D., Registrar, 168 Huron st. Organized in 1890. The faculty consists of eleven professors, fourteen lecturers, one demonstrator and two assistant demonstrators of anatomy. (See adv.)
- 279C Ohio Medical University, Columbus, O. J. E. Brown, A. M., M. D., Dean. Organized in 1892. The faculty embraces forty-three professors, six adjunct professors, three lecturers and four demonstrators.
- 279D Presbyterian Hospital and Woman's Medical College, Cincinnati, O. Organized in 1891. Merged into the Laura Memorial College, July, 1895.
- 279E Ohio College of Obstetrics, Medicine and Midwifery (formerly of Indianapolis, Ind.), Cincinnati, O. Chartered under the laws of the State of Ohio, 1889. Not in existence.
- 279F Laura Memorial College, Cincinnati, O. J. W. Withrow, M. D., Dean, 526 W. 7th. The Woman's Medical College of Cincinnati and Presbyterian Hospital and Woman's Medical College, Cincinnati, consolidated with the Laura Memorial College in 1895. The first class graduated in 1896. The faculty consists of twenty professors, three adjuncts and five demonstrators. (See adv.)

OREGON.

- 280 Willamette University, Medical Department, Salem, Ore. J. Reynolds, M. D., Dean, Organized in 1864, and located at Salem. It was removed to Portland in 1878. Removed back to Salem in 1895. The first class was graduated in 1867. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. Faculty embraces eighteen professors and one demonstrator.
- 280½ University of the State of Oregon, Medical Department, Portland, Ore. S. E. Josephi, M. D., Dean, 135 First st. Organized in 1887. The faculty embraces sixteen professors, five special lecturers and two demonstrators.

PENNSYLVANIA.

Department of Medicine of the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pa. John Marshall, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1765 as the Department of Medicine of the College of Philadelphia, the latter institution being the sixth in the order of succession of establishment of American colleges, having been chartered in 1753 chiefly through the influence of Dr. Benjamin Franklin and Dr. William Smith. The Department of Medicine is the first medical school established on the Continent of North America. The first medical diploma issued in America was granted to Dr. John Archer, in 1768, by this Department, then known as the College of Medicine in Philadelphia. On the organization of the University of Pennsylvania, in 1782, the college assumed its present title and relations as the successor of the College of Philadelphia. Classes have been graduated each year since 1768, except in 1772 to 1779 inclusive, during

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names a physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, how not been verified.

the War of Independence. The faculty embraces twenty professors, two assistant professors, twenty-four demonstrators, five lecturers, twenty-nine instructors and a prosector of anatomy. (See adv.)

- Jefferson Medical College, Philadelphia, Pa. J. W. Holland, M. D., Dean, 2006 Chestuut st. Organized in 1826 as the Medical Department of the Jefferson College at Canonsburg, Pa. Subsequently a charter was granted by the Legislature of the State, same as that given to the University of Pennsylvania, under which it has since been continuously in operation. The first class was graduated in 1827. Classes have been graduated in each subsequent year. The faculty embraces twenty-four professors, two lecturers, ten demonstrators, thirty-six assistant demonstrators and ten instructors. (See adv.)
- 283 Hahnemann Medical College (Homoeopathic), Philadelphia, Pa. John E. James, M. D., Registrar, 1521 Arch st. Organized in 1848. The first class was graduated in 1849. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces thirteen professors, fifteen lecturers and demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 284 Woman's Medical College of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pa. Clara Marshall, M. D., Dean, 1712 Locust st. Organized in 1850. The first class was graduated in 1851. Classes have been graduated in each subsequent year. The faculty embraces eight professors, nine clinical professors, one adjunct professor, four lecturers, six demonstrators, one instructor, seven assistant demonstrators, a curator of the museum, a prosector and eighteen clinical instructors. (See adv.)
- 285° Pennsylvania Medical College, Philadelphia Pa. Organized in 1839, as the Medical Department of the Pennsylvania College, at Gettysburgh, by Dr. David Gilbert. About 1853 it was reorganized. In 1859 the resignation of two of the professors caused the dissolution of the faculty. The institution then fell into the hands of the Philadelphia College of Medicine, and soon afterwards became extinct.*
- 286* Philadelphia College of Medicine and Surgery, Philadelphia, Pa. Organized in 1846 by Dr. James R. McClintock, and in 1850 it was merged into the Pennsylvania Medical College.*
- 287 Franklin Medical College, Philadelphia, Pa. Organized in 1847. Existed until 1852. Extinct.
- 288 Penn Medical University, Philadelphia, Pa. Chartered February 2, 1853. Lectures were delivered until about 1867. Reorganized, 1874. Extinct, 1881.
- 289 Homoeopathic Medical College, Philadelphia, Pa. Organized in 1848. On April 2, 1869, the faculty of this institution united with the faculty of the Hahnemann Medical College of Philadelphia, under the latter title.
- 289A* American College of Medicine in Pennsylvania, and the Eclectic Medical College of Philadelphia, Pa. Incorporated February 26, 1853. A few years after incorporation the first name was dropped, leaving the title Eclectic Medical College of Philadelphia. This was changed by the Legislature on March 21, 1865, to the Philadelphia University of Medicine and Surgery.*
- 200* Eclectic Medical College of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, P.a. Organized in 1856. Extinct, 1880.*
- 291* Philadelphia University of Medicine and Surgery (Eclectic). Philadelphia, Pa. Incorporated 1865. Extinct. 1880.*

[&]quot;As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

- 202* Lincoln University, Medical Department, Oxford, Pa. Organized in 1870. Extinct in 1872.*
- 293* American University of Pennsylvania (Eclectic), Philadelphia, Pa. Incorporated, 1807. Fraudulent. Extinct, 1880.*
- 2931/4 Electropathic Institute, Philadelphia, Pa. Chartered June 27, 1876.
- 294 Medico-Chirurgical College of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, Pa. Ernest Laplace, LL. D., M. D., Dean, 1828 S. Rittenhouse Square. Organized in 1881. The first class was graduated in 1882. The faculty embraces fourteen professors, seven clinical professors, six adjunct professors, nine lecturers, three demonstrators and eight instructors. (See adv.)
- 294½ Western Pennsylvania Medical College, Pittsburgh, Pa. T. M. T. McKennan, M. D., Secretary, S10 Penn ave. Organized in 1886. First class was graduated in 1887. The faculty embraces twenty professors, three demonstrators, eighteen assistants to chairs, nine-teen lecturers and one prosector. (See adv.)
 RHODE ISLAND.
- 295* Brown University, Medical Department, Providence, R. I. Organized in 1811. Lectures were delivered and classes graduated annually from 1814 to 1827, inclusive, excepting the years 1820-21, when it is believed that no classes were graduated. Extinct, 1827.* SOUTH CAROLINA.
- 296 Medical College of South Carolina, Charleston, S. C. Organized 1824: charter obtained in 1823. Permanently closed in 1839. During its existence its graduates amounted to 313.
- Medical College of the State of South Carolina, Charleston, S. C. Francis L. Parker, M. D., Dean, 70 Hasell st. Organized in 1833. In 1839 the Medical College of South Carolina became extinct, and the Medical College of the State of South Carolina received the buildings and other property of the former. Classes were graduated annually until 1862, when operations were suspended during the war, and until 1865, when they were resumed. Classes have been graduated annually since 1865. The faculty embraces nine professors, two demonstrators and five auxiliary instructors, and has thoroughly equipped chemical, pathological and bacteriological laboratories.
- 298* University of South Carolina, Medical Department, Columbia, S. C. Organized in 1886. Extinct in 1876.*
 SOUTH DAKOTA.
- 298A* South Dakota Medical College, Yankton, S. D. Incorporated in 1893.*
 - TENNESSEE.
- University of Nashville, Medical Department, Nashville, Tenn. W. G. Ewing, M. D., Secretary and Treasurer, 504 Church st. Organized in 1850. The first class was graduated in 1852. The faculty embraces twelve professors, seven special lecturers and eight demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 290A Vanderbilt University, Medical Department, Nashville, Tenn. W. L. Dudley, M. D., Dean; Richard Douglas, M. D., Secretary, 204 Willcox bldg. Founded in 1874. Course extended, standard raised and present faculty elected in 1895. (See adv.)
- 2998* Jefferson Medical Association, Dandridge, Tenn. In 1854 this association obtained a charter from the Legislature of Tennessee, giving it power to confer the degree of M. D. upon applicants who

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, however, the control of the graduates, however, the control of the graduates is the control of the graduates.

would present themselves before the members of said association for thorough examination, and if the examination was satisfactory to these gentlemen, they could grant them a diploma. The degree of M. D. was conferred upon five persons a number of years ago. No degree has been conferred of late years, the association simply exercising the functions of a Medical Society.*

- 300* Memphis Medical College (Medical Department, Cumberland University), Memphis, Tenn. Organized in 1845. Suspended from 1861 to 1868, during the War of the Rebellion. Reorganized in 1868. Courses of lectures were delivered until 1873. Extinct.*
- 3001/4* Shelby Medical College, Nashville, Tenn. Organized in 1858. Extinct in 1862.*
- Medical Department of the University of Tennessee, Nashville, Tenn. Paul F. Eve, M. D., Dean, 614 Broad st. Organized in 1876 as the Nashville Medical College. Became connected with the University of Tennessee in 1880. The first class was graduated in 1877. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces fourteen professors, seven instructors and six demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 301½ Hannibal Medical College, Memphis, Tenn. T. C. Cottrell, M. D., Secretary and Dean. First session opened October 7th, 1889. The faculty embraces eleven professors.
- Meharry Medical Department of Central Tennessee College, Nashville, Tenn. G. W. Hubbard, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1876. The first class was graduated in 1877. Classes have graduated each subsequent year. Devoted to the education of colored students, male and female. The faculty embraces ten professors, one assistant professor, two instructors and one demonstrator.
- 302½ Tennessee Medical College, Knoxville, Tenn. J. C. Cawood, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1889. The first class was graduated in 1890. The faculty embraces twelve professors and seven lecturers and demonstrators.
- 303* Botanic Medical College, Memphis, Tenn. Organized in 1857. In 1859 reorganized as The Eclectic Medical Institute, and became extinct in 1861.*
- 304 Memphis Hospital Medical College, Memphis, Tenn. W. B. Rogers, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1878. The first class was graduated in 1881. The faculty embraces ten professors, fifteen assistants to chairs and three demonstrators.
- 30.44. Chattanooga Medical College (Medical Department of Grant University), Chattanooga, Tenn. E. A. Cobleigh, M. D., Dean, Market and Ninth sts. Organized in 1889. First class was graduated in 1890, and classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty consists of ten professors, eight lecturers and five special demonstrators. (See adv.)
- 304A Sewance Medical School (Medical Department of the University of the South), Sewance, Tenn. Henry Wm. Blanc, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1891. The first class was graduated in 1892. The faculty embraces thirteen professors, lecturers and demonstrators.
- 304B Medical Department of Knoxville College, Knoxville, Tenn. R. M. C. Hill, M. S., M. D., Dean; Charles C. Yarbrough, M. D., Secretary, 326 West Park street. Organized 1895. Open to both sexes and all races. The faculty embraces seven professors and three demonstrators.

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

TEXAS.

305 Texas Medical College and Hospital, Galveston, Texas. Organ-ized in 1866 as the Galveston Medical College (being the Medical Department of Soule University). Reorganized under its present name in 1873. Lectures discontinued in 1881 on the Medical Department of the University of Texas being voted to be located at Galveston, reopened in 1887, the said Medical Department of the Texas University having failed to be established as proposed. Went out of existence at the close of the session of 1890-01.

Medical Department, San Antonio University, San Antonio, Texas. J. V. Spring, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1888, and a

faculty selected, but no lectures were ever given.

Medical Department University of Texas, Galveston, Tex. J. F. Y. Paine, M. D., Dean, P. O. Box 522. Organized in 1891. The first class was graduated in 1892. The faculty consists of nine professors, seven lecturers and five demonstrators.

B Medical Department of Fort Worth University, Fort Worth, Texas, Organized in 1894. The first class was graduated in 1895. 305B Bacon Saunders, M. D., Dean. The faculty consists of sixteen professors, besides a full corps of assistants and demonstrators. (See adv.)

UTAH.

306* Medical Institution of Morgan City, Morgan City, Utah. Extinct.*

VERMONT.

University of Vermont, Medical Department, Burlington, Vt. A. P. Grinnell, M. D., Dean. Organized in 1822. The first class was 307 graduated in 1823. Sessions were held, and classes graduated aunually, excepting in 1835, until 1837, when the sessions were suspended. In 1854 the department was reorganized. A class was graduated in 1834, and in each subsequent year. The faculty embraces eighteen professors, five adjunct professors, one demonstrator and one curator.

308* Vermont Medical College, Woodstock, Vt. Organized in 1827. under the name of Clinical School of Medicine, by Dr. Joseph A. Gallup, and was under his management until 1835. For several years the degrees were conferred by the Waterville College, Maine. In 1830 an arrangement was made with the Middlebury College. Vermont, and the degrees were conferred by that institution up to 1836. In 1935 the State Legislature passed an act incorporating the Vermont Medical College. By this act the Supreme Court was directed to appoint a Board of Examiners. The school was quite prosperous and well patronized; had a strong faculty and more

than one hundred students in 1850-51-52-53. Professor B. Palmer, Dean of the Faculty and Professor of Anatomy, removed to Louisville, Ky., in 1854. In 1856 the school became extinct. 3081/2 Medical Institute, Newbury, Vt.

Organized 1883.

Fraudulent and extinct.

Castleton Medical College, Castleton, Vt. The State, by an act passed October 29th, 1818, granted a charter to the Castleton Medical Academy. The first course of lectures under this charter was commenced November 15th, 1818. In 1821, name was changed to Vermont Academy of Medicine. Suspended in 1838, reorganized in 1830, and name changed to the Castleton Medical College in 1841. Extinct since 1861. During its existence it graduated 350 students.

3091/2 Vermont Medical College, Rutland, Vt. George Dutton, M.

D., Dean. Incorporated 1883.

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, has been certified

- 309A Trinity University, College of Medicine and Surgery of the State of Vermont, Bennington, Vt. Incorporated 1889. Fraudulent. VIRGINIA.
- 310 University of Virginia, Medical Department, Charlottesville, Albemarle County. Wm. M. Thornton, LL. D., Chairman of Faculty. Organized in 1825. The first class was graduated in July, 1828. There was no graduating class in 1862. The medical faculty embraces five professors, one acting professor, three instructors, one assistant demonstrator in Medical Biology and one demonstrator of Anatomy, with two assistants.
- 311 Medical School of the Valley of Virginia, Winchester, Va. Organized in 1826. After a few years' operation, became extinct. Was revived in 1850 and operated until buildings were burned during the war. During latter part of its career graduated 47 students.*
- 311½ Medical Department of Randolph Macon College, Prince Edward Court House, Va. Organized as a private medical school by Dr. John I'. Mettauer, presumably about 1840-45. In 1849 it became the Medical Department of Randolph Macon College, located then at Clarksville, afterward at Richmond, Va. Extinct, 1855.*
- 311A University College of Medicine, cor. Clay and 12th streets, Richmond, Va. Hunter McGuire, M. D., LL. D., President; J. Allison Hodges, Cor. Sec'y. Organized in 1893. First class graduated in 1893. The faculty consists of twenty-two professors, fourteen adjunct professors, four lecturers and six demonstrators. (See adv.)
- Medical College of Virginia, Richmond, Va. Christopher Tompkins, M. D., Dean of the Faculty. Organized in 1838 as the Medical Department of Hampden Sidney College, under which name it continued until 1954, when a new charter was obtained and the present name assumed. The first class was graduated in 1840. Classes have been graduated each subsequent year. The faculty embraces ten professors, fourteen adjunct professors, three lecturers and eight demonstrators. (See adv.)

 WASHINGTON.
- 312½ University of Washington, Medical Department, Seattle, Wash. Organized 1885. Not in operation.
- 3124 Northwestern College of Biochemistry, Spokane, Wash. Organized in 1889 as the Washington Biochemic Medical College, North Yakima. Shortly afterwards removed to Spokane and reincorporated. First class graduated in 1889. Only graduated students as specialists in Biochemistry. Not in operation.
- 312A University of Spokane Falls, College of Medicine, Spokane, Wash. Organized in 1890. Not in operation.

 WISCONSIN.
- 313* Milwaukee College of Physicians and Surgeons (Coney Medical Institute), Milwaukee, Wis. Incorporated in 1881. Fraudulent. Charter annulled October, 1883.*
- 313A University of Wisconsin. Special Science Course, Antecedent to Medicine, Madison, Wis. Charles Reid Barnes, Secretary. The faculty of the Special Science Course consists of fifteen professors and seven instructors.
- 314 Wisconsin College of Physicians and Surgeons, Milwaukee, Wis. W. H. Washburn, M. D., Secretary, corner Walnut and Twenty-fifth. Organized 1893. First class graduated in 1894.

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of physicians appearing in the following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have not been verified.

The faculty embraces twenty professors and eleven lecturers, demonstrators and instructors. (See adv.)

- 315 Milwaukee Medical College, Milwaukee, Wis. Wm. H. Earles, M. D., Dean; Warren B. Hill, M. D., Secretary, cor. 9th and Wells. Organized in 1893. The first class was graduated in 1895. The faculty embraces twenty-seven professors, eight lecturers, three demonstrators and a dispensary staff of eight. (See adv.)
- 316 Wisconsin Eclectic Medical College, Milwaukee, Wis. F. R. Rutland, M. D., President, 1809 Fond du Lac avenue. Organized 1894. First class graduated 1896. The faculty embraces six professors, three lecturers and two demonstrators.
 CANADA—Ontario.
- 330 College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario, Toronto, Ont. Robert A. Pyne, M. D., Registrar. First incorporated in 1866. The licensing body for Ontario. This institution does not grant degrees, and has no teaching faculty.
- 331 Toronto School of Medicine (affiliated with the University of Toronto and the University of Victoria College), Toronto, Ont. Organized in 1843. Incorporated by act of Parliament, 1851. Degrees were first conferred upon its students by affiliated universities in 1845. Degrees were so conferred each subsequent year. Suspended in 1887.
- Toronto University, Medical Faculty, Toronto, Ont. W. T. Aikins, M. D., LL. D., Dean. Organized in 1843, as the Medical Faculty of King's College. Soon after its organization the name was changed to the Medical Faculty of the University of Toronto. The Faculty was paid by the State. After an existence of ten years, the endowed chairs were abolished by an act of Legislature and in 1852 the school became extinct. In 1887 the Medical Faculty was re-established as a teaching body. Students enrolled in the Faculty attend the lectures and demonstrations of the Science Department of the University. The remaining subjects are taught in the building which was formerly occupied by the Toronto School of Medicine.
- Trinity Medical College (affiliated with the University of Trinity College, Queen's University. Victoria University, the University of Toronto and the University of Manitoba), Toronto, Ont. W. B. Geikie, M. D., C. M., Dean, 52 Maitland st. Organized in 1850, as the Upper Canada School of Medicine, which, in its first session, became the Medical Faculty of Trinity College, and after an existence of four years, ended by the resignation of the professors.

 * * In 1870 the Faculty of Medicine of Trinity College was reorganized, and in 1877 was incorporated as a separate corporation. Its College confers the degree of "Fellow by Examination of Trinity Medical College," which is "in every respect the equivalent of M. B., M. D., or M. D., M. C., at Trinity College."—Geikie. The strators, instructors and assistants.
- Faculty of Medicine of Queen's University, and Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons, Kingston, Ont. Fife Fowler, M. D., L. R. C. S., Edin., Dean of the faculty. First class graduated in 1855, and classes graduated in each subsequent year. The Royal the college of Physicians and Surgeons being separately incorporated, the college confers the diplomas of "Licentiate" and "Fellow;" students obtain the degree of M. D. and C. M. from the Queen's Uni-

^{*}As no list of the diplomas granted by this college could be obtained, all the names of not been verified.

The following pages, and represented as being its graduates, have